RECEIVED
Oct 04 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Dorchester County
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2021-UP-290 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 4, 2021)

Lower Court Case No. 2014-CP-18-01001

RANDAL WILLIAM BENTON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001098

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err by concluding Petitioner suffered no prejudice where the plea judge refused to accept Petitioner's guilty plea because he correctly answered he had not reviewed "every bit" of the evidence against him where trial counsel admitted he withheld evidence from Petitioner prior to the attempted guilty plea?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 31, 2011, a Dorchester County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2010-GS-18-1675). App. 598-599. On January 6, 2012, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein with his counsel, John Loy, to enter a plea to murder pursuant to Alford v. North Carolina, 400 U.S. 25 (1970) with a negotiated sentence of imprisonment for forty years. App. 1; App. 3, ll. 1-4; App. 4, ll. 10-18; App. 13, l. 25 – App. 14, l. 2. Russell Hilton appeared on behalf of the state. App. 1. When Petitioner indicated he had not been over “every bit” of the state’s evidence with his lawyer, Judge Goodstein refused to accept the guilty plea. App. 27, ll. 5-15.

Thereafter, the state, represented by Hilton and Barney Giese, called the case to trial before the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald and a jury on February 9, 2012. App. 29. Loy and Michelle Suggs represented Petitioner. App. 29. During jury deliberations, the jury asked for “definitions for murder with malice of aforethought, and involuntary manslaughter.” App. 461, ll. 18-21. Additionally, the foreperson of the jury indicated she needed to leave “before 5:00.” App. 462, ll. 12-16. When the jury returned to the courtroom, the judge informed them that voluntary manslaughter was an issue in the case, but that involuntary manslaughter was not. App. 463, ll. 19-24. She then re-instructed the jury on murder and voluntary manslaughter. App. 464, l. 1 – App. 468, l. 25.

Immediately after giving the re-instruction, the judge noted that she was aware that a juror needed to leave “before 5 o’clock.” App. 469, ll. 3-5. The judge explained that court would adjourn when the juror needed to leave and then resume the following day at 9:30. App. 469, ll. 3-10. According to the judge, the jury would deliberate *until* a verdict was reached. App. 469, l. 11. Shortly thereafter, the jury reached a verdict. App. 469, l. 23 – App. 470, l. 4. The jury found

Petitioner guilty of murder. App. 470, ll. 5-10. Judge McDonald sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. App. 483, ll. 5-10; App. 600.

Breen Stevens represented Petitioner on direct appeal. App. 486-500. On appeal, Petitioner challenged the judge's erroneous admission of a hearsay statement by the decedent. App. 486-500. The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. State v. Benton, 2013-UP-400 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Oct. 30, 2013); App. 501-502. Remittitur was issued on November 18, 2013. App. 503.

On May 23, 2014, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 504-510). The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on May 18, 2016, before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. App. 516. Rodney Davis represented Petitioner, and J. Clayton Mitchell, III, represented the state. App. 516. By an order filed on September 20, 2017, Judge Culbertson denied relief. App. 590-597.

On September 28, 2017, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. Thereafter, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari. After the state filed its return, this Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals on October 31, 2018. The Court of Appeals then granted the petition and ordered briefing on March 25, 2020. Both sides briefed the issue presented, and the Court of Appeals ultimately affirmed the decision issued by the PCR court after acknowledging the PCR court relied upon a factual finding not supported by the record. Supp. App. 1-3. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on August 19, 2021. Supp. App. 4-11. Thereafter, on August 31, 2021, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. Supp. App. 12.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by concluding Petitioner suffered no prejudice where the plea judge refused to accept Petitioner's guilty plea because he correctly answered he had not reviewed "every bit" of the evidence against him where trial counsel admitted he withheld evidence from Petitioner prior to the attempted guilty plea.

Reason to grant certiorari

This Court should grant certiorari to review the decision issued by the Court of Appeals because this case involves substantial constitutional issues. See Rule 242(b)(4), SCACR. Pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, a criminal defendant is entitled to the effective assistance of counsel. Here, counsel performed deficiently by failing to inform the plea judge that he withheld certain evidence from Petitioner prior to the attempted guilty plea because this was the reason the plea judge refused to accept the guilty plea. Plea counsel was aware that he withheld certain evidence. Plea counsel was aware that Petitioner answered the judge honestly and accurately when he said he had not reviewed "every bit" of the state's evidence against him. Plea counsel was aware that he could have either shown the withheld evidence to Petitioner at that point or simply explained the circumstances to the plea judge, but he failed to do so. Had plea counsel taken these simply remedial measures, then the outcome of the proceeding would have been different – the plea judge would have accepted the plea and imposed the negotiated sentence of forty years. This Court should grant certiorari to review this substantial constitutional issue.

Relevant facts

During the plea colloquy, the judge cautioned Petitioner that she had many questions to ask and that if Petitioner did not understand a question, he should not answer it, but should seek

clarification. App. 5, ll. 11-21; App. 5, ll. 23-24. The judge acknowledged there were “many ways to explain any one thing” and indicated she was “happy to try, perhaps, a different way” if Petitioner did not understand a question. App. 5, ll. 21-23. Such an admonition is proper in all guilty pleas, but it was especially suitable where Petitioner indicated he had only an eighth grade education. App. 6, ll. 15-16. Despite this caution from the judge, she refused to accept his guilty plea when he expressed confusion regarding her questioning and answered honestly when asked if he had reviewed “every bit” of the state’s evidence.

The state provided a lengthy factual recitation to support the charge and guilty plea. App. 20, l. 9 – App. 21, l. 8. At the conclusion of the recitation, the judge asked Petitioner if those were the facts that Petitioner believed the state could produce to establish his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. App. 26, ll. 13-16. Petitioner responded that he did not know. App. 26, l. 17. Inquiring further, the judge asked if those were the facts for which Petitioner believed he would be found guilty. App. 26, ll. 18-19. Petitioner responded unequivocally, “Yes, ma’am.” App. 26, l. 20. Thereafter, the judge asked Petitioner if he had been over the evidence the state had available. App. 26, ll. 21-25. Petitioner responded that he had. App. 27, l. 1. When the judge asked if he had been over the evidence with his lawyer, Petitioner again responded that he had. App. 27, ll. 2-4.

Next, the judge wanted to know if Petitioner had “been over *every bit* of that evidence.” App. 27, ll. 5-6 (emphasis added). Petitioner responded, “No ma’am, I wouldn’t say every bit of it.” App. 27, l. 7. The judge then indicated that she would not accept the plea: “If he doesn’t know the evidence and he can’t tell me if he believes that that’s the evidence that the state has and he’s been over it and he thinks there’s evidence he hadn’t been over I can’t take the plea.” App. 27, ll. 11-15.

A month later, Petitioner was tried, convicted, and sentenced to life imprisonment, significantly more than what was negotiated as part of the plea bargain. App. 29; App. 470, ll. 5-10; App. 483, ll. 5-10; App. 600.

During the PCR hearing, trial counsel explained that he did not review the autopsy photographs with Petitioner prior to the guilty plea. App. 554, ll.18-23. Trial counsel believed that Petitioner still loved his wife, the deceased, and would not have wanted to see the photographs of her in that state. App. 554, l. 18 – App. 555, l. 4. It was trial counsel’s understanding that when Petitioner told the judge he had not reviewed “every bit” of discovery, Petitioner was referring to the autopsy photographs. App. 554, l. 9 – App. 555, l. 4. Trial counsel agreed that it would have been very easy to remedy the problem – simply show the pictures to Petitioner. App. 555, ll. 5-9. Trial counsel further agreed that it was in Petitioner’s best interest to enter into the plea agreement with the state. App. 555, ll. 10-13.

Contrary to the clear evidence in the record, the PCR court’s order indicated that trial counsel believed Petitioner “likely did not agree with the state’s reference to a broken photo frame of his wife.” App. 593. According to the order, “the state’s factual recitation ... alleged that [Petitioner] ‘smashed’ a picture of the victim, his wife, in a buildup of anger and violence over the victim’s new relationship.” App. 593. While the state’s factual recitation made such a claim, Petitioner did not pose any objection to the claim or indicate he disagreed with the claim during the guilty plea hearing. Nevertheless, the PCR court determined Petitioner “was unable to admit certain facts set forth by the solicitor were accurate.” App. 593.

Importantly, the PCR judge found “trial counsel’s testimony to be credible and persuasive.” App. 592. Thus, the PCR court found trial counsel’s testimony that the reason Petitioner told Judge Goodstein he had not reviewed “every bit” of evidence with trial counsel was because he

had not, in fact, reviewed “every bit” of evidence in the case because trial counsel and Petitioner decided that Petitioner would not look at the autopsy photographs. Despite finding counsel’s testimony credible, the PCR judge found trial counsel “was not deficient because [Petitioner] was unable to successfully enter a plea of guilty.” App. 593.

The PCR judge found Petitioner’s inability to admit to certain facts set forth by the solicitor were accurate, *i.e.*, the broken photograph frame, “compounded with the fact that it seem[ed] Judge Goodstein was not in favor of an Alford plea where the facts set forth clearly show[ed] there was sufficient evidence for the jury to convict [Petitioner].” App. 593. Accordingly, the PCR court found Petitioner “failed to present any evidence to support a finding that he was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency.” App. 593. The PCR court further explained that a “plea judge will accept a plea if it is intelligently and voluntarily made.” App. 593-594. What the PCR court found distinguishing in this case was that “[i]n the plea attempt, [Petitioner] did not agree with certain facts laid out by the state and that those facts would be sufficient for a jury to find him guilty.” App. 594. Therefore, according to the PCR court, “[t]he court was correct in not accepting [Petitioner]’s plea.” App. 594. Based upon these erroneous and unsupported findings of fact, the PCR court denied Petitioner relief.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that “[f]airness require[d] acknowledging the PCR court misstated one piece of evidence.” Supp. App. 3. Specifically, the Court of Appeals recognized the PCR court’s factual finding in this regard was not supported by the record. Supp. App. 3. “The PCR court wrote that [Petitioner]’s trial counsel believed [Petitioner] did not agree during the plea hearing with the state’s reference to a broken picture frame. Trial counsel *never* said anything about that in the PCR hearing.” Supp. App. 3 (emphasis added).

However, the Court of Appeals neglected to recognize the significance of the PCR court's erroneous factual finding to its legal conclusions. According to the Court of Appeals, "the PCR court's key factual findings foreclose[d] a finding of prejudice." Supp. App. 3. Specifically, the Court of Appeals claimed Petitioner "was evasive in responding to the plea judge and that the judge already did not favor the plea." Supp. App. 3. This assertion contorted the facts in the record, which did not show Petitioner was evasive in responding to the plea judge. Essentially, the Court of Appeals misconstrued Petitioner's accurate responses to the judge – he had not reviewed *every bit* of the evidence – as evasive. This must not stand.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The right to the effective assistance of counsel extends to the plea bargaining process. Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 162 (2012); Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 133, 141 (2012); Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356 (2010); Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 57-59 (1985); Robinson v. State, 422 S.C. 78, 85, 810 S.E.2d 32, 36 (2018). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984).

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice,

“a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

In Lafler, 566 U.S. at 161, the defendant initially expressed a willingness to accept a plea offer in court, but later rejected the offer based upon the advice of counsel. Thereafter, the defendant was tried, found guilty, and sentenced to substantially more time than the plea offer would have provided. Id. On appeal to the United States Supreme Court, the parties agreed trial counsel’s advice with respect to the plea offer constituted deficient performance. Id. at 163. The issue before the Supreme Court was held to apply Strickland’s prejudice test where ineffective assistance resulted in rejection of a plea offer, and yet the defendant was convicted after a trial. Id. The Court held that in circumstances such as these, a defendant must show that but for the ineffective advice, there is a reasonable probability that the plea offer would have been presented to the court, that the court would have accepted its terms, and that the conviction or sentence, or both, under the offer’s terms would have been less severe than under the judgment and sentence that were in fact imposed. Id. at 164.

Turning to the question of a proper remedy, the Court considered two scenarios. In the first scenario, where the defendant would have pled guilty to the same charges as the defendant was convicted after trial, the court may conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine whether the defendant has shown a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s errors, he would have accepted the plea. If such a showing is made, the court may exercise discretion in determining whether the defendant should receive the term of imprisonment per the offer, the sentence he received at trial,

or something in between. Id. at 171. In the second scenario in which resentencing alone will not redress the issue, such as when the guilty plea offer was to counts less serious than the ones for which the defendant was convicted after trial, the proper remedy may be to require the prosecution to extend the offer again. The judge can then exercise discretion in deciding whether to vacate the conviction from trial and except the plea or leave the conviction undisturbed. Id. at 171-172.

The Supreme Court analyzed a similar issue in Frye. The issue before the court was whether the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel extended to negotiations and considerations of plea offers that lapse or are rejected. 566 U.S. at 138. The Court held that defense counsel has a duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution that may be favorable to the accused. Id. at 145. The Court further held that to show prejudice from counsel's deficient performance where a plea offer has lapsed or been rejected, defendants must demonstrate a reasonable probability they would have accepted the earlier plea offer. In addition, defendants must show a reasonable probability the plea offer would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it, or the trial court refusing to accept it if they had the authority to exercise that discretion under state law. In short, the defendant must show a reasonable probability that the end result of the criminal process would have been more favorable by reason of a plea to a lesser charge or a sentence of less prison time. Id. at 146-147.

In Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 608, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009), this Court said that to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon a claim that trial counsel failed to communicate a plea offer, the applicant must prove (1) counsel's failure to communicate the prosecution's offer constituted deficient performance, and (2) the applicant was prejudiced by this deficient performance. Specifically, the Court adopted the rule that "counsel's failure to convey a plea offer constitutes deficient performance." Id. at 609, 675 S.E.2d at 420. Concerning the prejudice

prong, this Court held “a case-by-case approach is most consistent with our prior decisions and effectively achieves the ultimate goal of assessing whether but for counsel’s deficient performance a defendant would have accepted the state’s proposed plea bargain and that he would have benefited from the offer.” Id. at 613, 675 S.E.2d at 422.

In Bell v. State, 410 S.C. 436, 442, 765 S.E.2d 4, 7 (Ct. App. 2014), the Court of Appeals affirmed a PCR judge’s conclusion that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to extend a plea offer to Bell. “[T]rial counsel testified Bell’s file contained a note indicating the solicitor made an offer of ten years imprisonment.” Id. Additionally, “Bell testified he did not know anything about a plea offer until his sentencing.” Id. The PCR court relied upon this evidence to find a plea offer was made by the state and not communicated to Bell. Id. The Court held there was evidence of probative value to support that finding. Id. Further, the Court relied heavily upon the fact that the plea offer was for ten years’ imprisonment, but Bell was sentenced to twenty years’ imprisonment, showing a significant difference in the sentencing, and thus, demonstrating prejudice. Id. at 443, 765 S.E.2d at 8. Additionally, the Court relied upon Bell’s “self-serving” statement that he would have accepted the state’s plea offer had he been presented with it to find Bell suffered prejudice from counsel’s failure to convey the offer. Id.

Exploring plea negotiations is an important part of providing adequate representation to a criminal client. United States v. Almany, 621 F.Supp.2d 561, 569 (E.D. Tenn. 2008), cited in Gonzales v. State, 419 S.C. 2, 12-13, 795 S.E.2d 835, 840 (2017). This is no surprise in light of the vast number of guilty pleas heard every day in courtrooms throughout the country. Ninety-seven percent of federal convictions and ninety-four percent of state convictions are the result of guilty pleas.” Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134, 143 (2012). “The reality is that plea bargains have become so central to the administration of the criminal justice system that defense counsel have

responsibilities in the plea bargain process, responsibilities that must be met to render the adequate assistance of counsel that the Sixth Amendment requires in the criminal process at critical stages.”

Id.

“Because ours is for the most part a system of pleas, not a system of trials, it is insufficient simply to point to the guarantee of a fair trial as a backstop that inoculates any errors in the pretrial process.” Id. at 143-144 (internal quotations omitted). “To a large extent ... horse trading [between prosecutor and defense counsel] determines who goes to jail and for how long. That is what plea bargaining is. It is not some adjunct to the criminal justice system; it is the criminal justice system.”

Id. at 144 (internal quotations omitted). “In today’s criminal justice system, therefore, the negotiation of a plea bargain, rather than the unfolding of a trial, is almost always the critical point for a defendant.” Id.

As the Court of Appeals held, no facts in the record supported the PCR court’s factual finding that trial counsel believed Petitioner “likely did not agree with the state’s reference to a broken photo frame of his wife.” There was no indication during the attempted plea hearing or the PCR hearing that Petitioner indicated an unwillingness to go forward with the plea due to the state’s claim about a broken frame. Although the state mentioned that Petitioner “smashed a picture” of himself and the deceased, the plea hearing transcript was devoid of any evidence whatsoever that Petitioner indicated he was disputing that fact or disputing the facts recited by the state. Further, trial counsel never said that he believed Petitioner likely did not agree with the state’s reference to a broken photo frame. Contrary to the PCR court’s order, trial counsel never made any such statement.

Despite recognizing that the PCR court’s determination rested upon a factual finding not supported by the record, the Court of Appeals held the PCR court’s legal determination was supported by the record because Petitioner was evasive in responding to the plea judge. However,

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