STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Nov 01 2021

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS
The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, Plea Judge
The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, PCR Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Opinion No. 2021-UP-290 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 4, 2021)
Appellate Case No. 2021-001098

RANDAL WILLIAM BENTON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

YASMEEN E. KLEIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104681

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court's dismissal of Petitioner's application claiming his counsel was constitutionally ineffective for allegedly failing to properly apprise Petitioner of all the evidence against him prior to attempting to enter a guilty plea, and thereby causing the judge to reject the guilty plea because Petitioner indicated he had not reviewed all of the evidence against him. However, the PCR court properly held Petitioner failed to demonstrate any ineffectiveness or prejudice on the part of counsel when the plea judge refused to accept Petitioner's *Alford* plea. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the PCR Court's dismissal. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantees the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Taylor v. State*, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his PCR action, and when alleging counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686. In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668.

First, Petitioner must prove counsel's performance was deficient. *Id.*; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

“Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Id.* (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668.

The Sixth Amendment right to counsel additionally extends to representation of defendants during guilty plea proceedings. A defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process. *Davie v. State*, 381 S.C. 601, 607, 675 S.E.2d 416, 419 (2009) (citing *Judge v. State*, 321 S.C. 554, 471 S.E.2d 146 (1996)); *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 162 (2012) (quoting *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771 (1970)). A petitioner seeking to demonstrate that counsel did not meet the *Strickland* standard due to the Court’s refusal to accept a guilty plea must establish a reasonable probability that the result of the plea process would have been different but for counsel’s deficient performance. *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 163; *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 133, 147-48 (2012). Further, a petitioner must show a reasonable likelihood the plea would have been entered without the prosecution cancelling the plea, or the trial court refusing to accept it. *Frye*, 566 U.S. at 147-49.

The Court of Appeals properly found Petitioner suffered no prejudice where Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of proving Counsel was ineffective because Petitioner cannot establish a reasonable chance the plea judge would have accepted the plea and where the record suggests the judge did not favor the plea.

As an initial matter, Petitioner's continued reliance on *Lafler, Frye, Davie v. State*, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009), and *Bell v. State*, 410 S.C. 436, 765 S.E.2d 4 (Ct. App. 2014) as applicable to the current case is misguided, and misconstrues the scope of the issue before the Court. *Frye, Davie*, and *Bell* discuss factual scenarios in which plea counsel failed to communicate plea offers to defendants. The facts and allegation in the case at bar are distinguishable from those cases as there is no allegation the offer in this case was not communicated. Here, Petitioner alleges counsel was deficient when he failed to inform the plea judge that Counsel "withheld certain evidence" from Petitioner prior to the plea, and that this was the reason the judge refused to accept the guilty plea. However, a criminal defendant does not have an absolute right to under the Constitution to have his guilty plea accepted by the court. *Alford*, 400 U.S. at 38 n. 11.

As defendants do not have an "absolute right to have a guilty plea accepted," the court "may reject a plea in exercise of sound judicial discretion." *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971). Ultimately, it is Petitioner's burden to establish prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's alleged deficiency, the trial court would have accepted the plea within its discretion. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioner failed to meet this burden.

According to Petitioner, Counsel was deficient for failing to show the autopsy photographs of Petitioner's wife to Petitioner, or explain to the plea judge that these images were the evidence that Petitioner indicated he had not reviewed. Petitioner alleges that had Counsel

done so, there is a reasonable probability the judge would have accepted Applicant's plea. However, this assertion is unsupported by the record. First, Petitioner never specified at any point what evidence Counsel allegedly did not review with him. In fact, during the guilty plea hearing, Petitioner initially conceded Counsel *had* reviewed the evidence with him. App. 27, l. 1. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the PCR court's factual finding that Petitioner failed to present any evidence to support or corroborate his allegations, and failed to specify what evidence counsel allegedly failed to review with him. Petitioner was questioned during the hearing as to which portion of the State's evidence he had not reviewed prior to the guilty plea:

Q. [] So in your attempted guilty plea before Judge Goodstein, that was – she did not agree to accept the guilty plea, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And that was because you were not – you had not reviewed all of the State's evidence in the case?

A. Correct.

Q. Which portion of the state's evidence had you not reviewed at that point?

A. **I can't, I can't really give you a definite amount or answer to how much I did nor did not study.**

App. 550-51 (emphasis added).

It is therefore unclear how Petitioner can allege Counsel was ineffective for “withholding” evidence that Petitioner himself could not identify at any point prior to Counsel's testimony at the evidentiary hearing. Moreover, Counsel provided testimony at the hearing that he was not positive what evidence Petitioner claims he had not reviewed, but suspected Petitioner was referring to the autopsy photos of the Victim. App. 554, l. 18-22. Counsel explained that he did not provide those photos to Petitioner because while Petitioner may have killed his wife, he believed Petitioner loved her and the pictures were graphic. App. 554, l. 23-

25. Counsel further recalled that he warned Petitioner about the pictures prior to the plea, and Petitioner agreed he did not want to see them. App. 554, l. 18-p. 555, l. 4. Further, Petitioner's assertion that *this* was the evidence he referred to during the plea hearing is a post hoc fallacy. Petitioner never articulated the evidence Counsel failed to review with him until Counsel testified about the possibility of the photos at the PCR hearing. As such, it is unclear how Petitioner can allege deficiency on behalf of Counsel for not showing him evidence he never previously identified, and when Petitioner knew the photos existed and chose not to view them prior the plea.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals correctly found Petitioner's refusal to agree with the State's recitation of facts, his evasive communication when asked to admit the strong evidence against him, and Counsel's testimony of the plea judge's disfavor of the plea, points away from a reasonable finding that the judge would have accepted the plea. A comprehensive review of the guilty plea proceeding in its entirety shows that Petitioner's responses during the proceeding negatively contributed to the outcome of the plea, far more than his allegation of deficiency on the part of Counsel.

At several instances during the plea colloquy, Petitioner's responses to the court were indirect, and provided a sufficient degree of uncertainty upon which the court reasonably decided to reject Petitioner's plea. Petitioner's response when asked how he wished to plea was tentative:

THE COURT: [. . .] Mr. Benton, how do you plead to the offense of murder?
MR. BENTON: Well –
MR. LOY: How do you plead?
THE COURT: How do you plead, guilty or not guilty?
MR. BENTON: I guess guilty, Your Honor.

App. 13, l. 18-23.

Petitioner's halted speech when first asked how he pled, followed up with "I guess guilty" implies a passive and hesitant acknowledgement of guilt rather than a knowing and affirmative answer. Petitioner additionally provided an evasive and uncertain response following the State's recitation of facts:

THE COURT: Very well. Are those the facts, Mr. Benton, that you believe that the State could produce sufficient evidence to convict you and establish your guilt beyond a reasonable doubt?

MR. BENTON: I don't know, Your Honor.

App. 26, l. 13-17.

To add further confusion to the plea, after initially demonstrating an apprehension of admitting guilt and the strength of the State's evidence, Petitioner then acknowledged he reviewed the evidence the State had available with his attorney, and affirmed his belief the State could produce sufficient evidence to convict him of the facts alleged. Yet immediately thereafter, Petitioner still told the court he had not been over "every bit" of evidence. App. 27, l. 1-7. Petitioner's insistence that Counsel's "withheld" evidence of the autopsy photos would have changed the outcome of the proceeding ignores the wider reality that his plea proceeding was plagued with his own indirect and uncertain responses to the court on several occasions.

The Court of Appeals also correctly found Applicant failed to establish deficiency because the PCR court found Counsel credibly testified at the evidentiary hearing that while there was no record of an attempt to rehabilitate the plea offer on the record, those discussions took place in chambers. App. 553, l. 23-p. 554, l. 10. Counsel credibly testified the plea judge never wanted to accept the plea as it was an *Alford* plea to murder of Petitioner's wife for a negotiated forty years, and that the plea judge was displeased that it was before her. App. 554, l. 1-6. Counsel testified he "probably pushed pretty hard with both her and the State to get the offer

through.” App. 554, l. 6-8. Counsel elaborated in his testimony that “[t]he plea judge essentially banged the gavel and said I’m not taking this plea.... We’re done,” after Petitioner stated that he had not seen every bit of evidence. App. 554, l. 14-17. Counsel ultimately testified that it was a challenge negotiating a plea deal originally, and when it did not go forward, the State wanted to try the case and the plea judge did not want to accept it. App. 555, l. 16-20. These facts supported the Court of Appeals’ finding there was not a reasonable chance the plea judge would have accepted the plea. Petitioner’s inconsistent responses to questions during the colloquy in combination with Counsel’s testimony that the plea judge was not favorable towards the plea weigh against finding that Counsel was in any way deficient.

Petitioner offered no evidence to support his position that there is a reasonable chance the judge would have accepted the plea but for the alleged deficiency of counsel aside from his own insistence on that fact. Ultimately, Counsel was not deficient nor the cause of the plea judge refusing to accept Petitioner’s plea. The only evidence Counsel recalled not reviewing with Petitioner prior to the guilty plea was Victim’s autopsy photographs, which Petitioner knew existed and made an affirmative decision not to review prior to the plea. Counsel successfully negotiated an offer from the State they were not pleased to provide, the plea judge gave no indication she was willing to accept the plea. Ultimately, the fact that the plea judge did not provide Counsel with an opportunity to explain the evidence that had purportedly not been reviewed during the hearing supports the finding that the judge disfavored the plea. Petitioner’s assertion that Counsel should have presented every feasible explanation to the plea court to justify Petitioner’s responses is an unreasonable requirement to place upon counsel or else risk being alleged deficient.

Importantly, judges are free to reject plea agreements, especially agreements which do not allow for any discretion. Ultimately, Petitioner has failed to show how Counsel was in any way constitutionally ineffective for properly reviewing the relevant evidence with Petitioner prior to his plea or how any prejudice resulted where the plea judge was free to reject the plea agreement and showed no indication she was willing to accept the agreement at any point. It is entirely within the sound discretion of a plea judge to reject a guilty plea which may raise questions of whether the plea is being intelligently and voluntarily made. *State v. Paris*, 354 U.S. 1, 3, 578 S.E.2d 751, 752 (Ct. App. 2003). The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the PCR court's finding that Petitioner failed to carry his burden of proving Counsel was deficient or that he was prejudiced by any alleged deficiency. This Court should therefore deny certiorari.


CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's and the Court of Appeals' findings that Petitioner had effective assistance of counsel. However, if this Court decides to grant the petition for writ of certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.